# **RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

02-08-2019

IN SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2016AP1276-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NELSON GARCIA, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision in the Wisconsin Court of Appeals Affirming a Judgment of Conviction in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable William S. Pocan presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

PAMELA MOORSHEAD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1017490

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 moorsheadp@opd.wi.gov

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Does a defendant have a Sixth Amendment right to counsel at a lineup that is conducted after a court commissioner finds probable cause and sets bail in a proceeding intended to comply with *County of Riverside v. McLaughlin*, 500 U.S. 44 (1991)?

Both the circuit court and the court of appeals ruled that no right to counsel attached at the probable cause proceeding.

2. Is a lineup procedure impermissibly suggestive when it violates the requirements of the Department of Justice *Model Policy and Procedure for Eye-Witness Identification*?

Should this Court abandon the *Biggers/Brathwaite*<sup>1</sup> reliability test in favor of a rule excluding identifications resulting from such lineup procedures?

The circuit court and the court of appeals applied the current standards governing challenges to lineups and other eyewitness identification evidence. Under those standards, both the circuit court and the court of appeals concluded that the evidence was admissible.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972), and Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98 (1977).

3. Was Mr. Garcia denied his constitutional right to represent himself at trial when the trial court hypothesized at a pretrial hearing that he would be disruptive if allowed to proceed *pro se*?

The circuit court denied Mr. Garcia's request to proceed *pro se*. The court of appeals upheld that decision.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 27, 2011, a man robbed a branch of the M & I Bank on Oklahoma Avenue in the City of Milwaukee. The man entered the bank and handed a teller a note which read, "This is a robbery. Put the money in the bag. This is no joke." (1: 1). Police collected surveillance video from the bank, which showed the robber. (89: 31-34). In an effort to identify the man, the police released portions of the surveillance video to the media. The police received tips about multiple possible suspects, including Mr. Garcia. (89: 35, 36).

On January 2, 2012, Mr. Garcia was arrested. (86: 12; App. 127). When interviewed by police the next day, he invoked his right to counsel and did not make a statement. (86: 13; App. 128).

### <u>Judicial Determination of Probable Cause:</u>

On January 4, 2012, a police detective assigned to the case filled out a form known as a "C.R. 215"

which set forth the probable cause to believe that Mr. Garcia had committed the bank robbery. (2; App. 238; 86: 14-15; App. 129-130). Police prepared the C.R. 215 because they were aware of the constitutional requirement that in order to continue to hold a suspect in custody there must be a judicial finding of probable cause within 48 hours of arrest. (86: 23; App. 138).

That same day, a Milwaukee County court commissioner reviewed the C.R. 215 and made a finding of probable cause to believe that Mr. Garcia violated Wis. Stat. §943.87 which prohibits robbery of a financial institution. The commissioner set bail at \$50,000 cash. (86: 15, 26-27; App. 130, 141-42; 2: 2; App. 139). Milwaukee County's procedure required that police take the C.R.215 form to the court commissioner in either the preliminary hearing or intake courtroom. (86: 24-25; App. 139-140). While Mr. Garcia was in custody at the time that the police presented the C.R. 215 to the commissioner, he was not present in the courtroom. (86: 30-31; App. 145-146). Police understood that once the bail was set, Mr. Garcia would be released from custody if he posted the \$50,000. (86: 29-30; App. 144-145).

Although bail was set following the probable cause determination, the district attorney's office had not yet filed a formal complaint. (86: 15; App. 130). Police did not present the C.R. 215 to the district attorney's office for approval. (86: 17; App. 132).

## Lineup:

Later that day, Milwaukee police officers conducted an in-person lineup which they presented to two bank tellers—one to whom the robber spoke (D.L.) and another who witnessed the interaction (B.C.). Mr. Garcia was included in the lineup in the No. 4 position. (86: 14, 27, 67; App 129, 132, 162).

The lineup administrator, Detective Patrick Pajot, gave each teller Milwaukee Police Department Form PC-25, Supplement Report, which gave instructions about the lineup procedure. (86: 59; App. 154). Those instructions were also read verbatim to the tellers. (86: 9-16; App. 124-131).

At the completion of the lineup, neither teller identified Mr. Garcia as the bank robber on the PC-25 forms. (89: 43-48, 81). Prior to reviewing the tellers' PC-25 forms, Detective Pajot asked them if they had any questions or would like to see the lineup again. (86: 63, 74-75; App. 158, 169-170). The detective testified that he had conducted hundreds of lineups and that he asked that question "almost every time." (86: 63; App. 168). When the detective asked D.L. if she wanted to see the lineup again, he did not know that she had not circled "yes" or "no" on the form for the person in the No. 4 position. (86: 70; App. 165).

One of the tellers asked to see one person again, and the other asked to see one or two people again, but they did not give position numbers for those individuals. (86: 64; App 159). The detective

told them that he would have to show them the entire lineup again. (86: 64; App 159).

After the second lineup viewing, B.C., the teller who witnessed the robbery but did not speak to the suspect, still had not circled either "yes" or "no" under No. 4 on her PC-25 form; she said that the person in the No. 4 position "seemed to have the same youthful face and facial features" as the person she saw rob the bank. However, she stated that she was not positive it was him and ultimately circled "no" on the form. (86: 66; App. 161; 89: 46-48). At trial, she testified that she had been "70 percent certain" that suspect No. 4 in the lineup was the robber. (89: 47).

After the second viewing of the lineup, D.L., the teller who had interacted with the suspect, circled the word "yes" under the No. 4 on her PC-25. (86: 68; App. 163). She stated that she was 100 percent positive that No. 4 was the robber. (86: 67; App. 162). She said the same thing at trial. (89: 72; App. 167). When asked what stood out about Mr Garcia that caused her to identify him during the lineup, D.L. testified, "He had a very nice complexion, and that sealed the deal. I recognized him." (89: 72; App. 167). D.L. identified Mr. Garcia as the robber in court. (89: 70).

Detective Pajot testified that D.L. told him she had concentrated solely on the robber's face because he had a hood up over his head. She stated that No. 4 had the same complexion color, shape of mouth and height as the robber. (86: 68-69; App. 163-164). The

detective testified that D.L. told him that "when the defendant came out during the first lineup, she believed that that was the person who had robbed the bank. She asked to see the lineup the second time because there was some facial hair that looked a little bit different on him." (86: 69; App. 164). D.L. told police the robber was 5'4" tall. (89: 77-78). Mr. Garcia is 5'9" tall. (92: 23).

Detective Pajot testified that he learned how to do lineups both from working with other detectives and, at detective training school, where he was taught using the Wisconsin Department of Justice Model Policy and Procedure for Eye-Witness Identification. <sup>2</sup> (App. 210-237; 86: 73-74; App. 168-169). The DOJ's Model Policy emphasizes that the line-up should only be viewed once and that additional viewing should occur "only upon request of the witness." (Model Policy, 20; App. 229). The Model Policy directs that "the line-up administrator should never suggest additional viewing." (Model Policy, 21; App. 230; 86: 72; App. 168).

The Model Policy contains the following explanation of the importance of limiting a lineup to a single viewing:

[A]llowing a witness to view a line-up a second time converts the procedure from a sequential to a quasi-simultaneous line-up, thereby, risking

http://www.doj.state.wi.us/dles/tns/EyewitnessPublic.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Available at:

the benefits of the sequential procedure... studies have shown that a sequential procedure is much more reliable than running one (1) back to back....

(Model Policy, 121; App. 230; 86: 74; App. 169).

Detective Pajot knew from his training that he was not supposed to show a witness the lineup a second time, unless the witness asked for a second from without suggestion the administrator. (86: 73-74; App. 168-169). The detective explained the discrepancy between the DOJ Model Policy and the procedure he used by drawing a distinction between "asking" and "suggesting." He said, "I had asked if anyone had any questions or would like to see it a second time. I didn't suggest that they should see it a second time." (86: 75; App. 170).

## Pretrial proceedings:

On January 7, 2012, Mr. Garcia was charged with robbery of a financial institution in violation of Wis. Stat. §§943.87 and 939.50(3)(c). (1).

Mr. Garcia was represented by six different attorneys during the pendency of this case. On April 24, 2012, Attorney Nathan Opland-Dobbs, moved to withdraw at Mr. Garcia's request. The court granted the motion. (68: 2-4). Attorney Melissa Fitzsimmons was then appointed. On November 26, 2012, the date set for the jury trial, Attorney Fitzsimmons moved to withdraw due to medical issues. (72). That motion

was granted. Attorney Louis Epps made one court appearance and told the court that the State Public Defender would be appointing a private bar attorney. (73).

Attorney Thomas Harris was then appointed. On May 23, 2013 he filed a motion to suppress the lineup identification. (17). On November 14, 2013, Mr. Garcia filed a pro se motion to amend the suppression motion. (18). On December 9, 2013, Attorney Harris moved to withdraw as counsel on the basis that Mr. Garcia had filed a complaint against him with the Office of Lawyer Regulation. (22). The court granted that motion. (75: 2-6). During that hearing, the court specially asked Mr. Garcia if he wanted to continue the case by representing himself; Mr. Garcia stated he did not. (75: 4).

At a status conference on March 27, 2014, Mr. Garcia expressed concerns about the suppression motion that had been filed, but not yet heard, including Mr. Garcia's belief that his fifth attorney, Paul Bonneson, did not appear to want to pursue that motion, because he thought it lacked legal merit. (77: 3-8). Mr. Garcia told the court that he believed case law he had provided to Attorney Bonneson supported his belief that he had been entitled to counsel when the lineup was conducted. (77: 12-13). Mr. Garcia included specific citations to legal authority:

MR. GARCIA: I apologize. In *Rothgery vs. Gillespie County*, 554 U.S. 191 (2008), where the court held that the lower court's standard which depended on whether a prosecutor had a hand in

starting judicial adversary proceedings, was wrong, and that an accusation filed with a judicial officer was sufficiently formal and the government's commitment to prosecute sufficiently concrete when the accusation prompted arraignment and the restrictions on the accused's liberty to facilitate the prosecution.

R77, pp. 12-13.

Mr. Garcia also told the court that a recent federal district court decision, which he identified as *United States v. West*, also supported his claim that he was entitled to counsel at the lineup. (77: 14-15). The court, over Mr. Garcia's objection, removed Attorney Bonneson, from the case, telling Mr. Garcia to proceed pro se. After Mr. Garcia made clear that he was not waiving his right to counsel, the court kept Attorney Bonneson on the case. (77: 16-25). However, the court indicated that it found Mr. Garcia competent to represent himself. (77: 17).

Shortly thereafter, on April 7, 2014, Attorney Bonneson filed a motion to suppress the lineup identification. The legal argument advanced in the motion was the same argument Mr. Garcia had previously articulated in court, citing *Rothgery vs. Gillespie County*, 554 U.S. 191 (2008), and *United States v. West*, No. 08-CR-157, 2009 WL 5217976 (E.D. Wis. Mar. 3, 2009). (27).

Subsequently, on July 21, 2014, Mr. Garcia filed a motion to proceed *pro se*. (30). On July 24, 2014, Attorney Bonneson orally moved to withdraw.

The court took the motion under advisement pending judicial rotation to the successor court. (83: 2-16). On August 13, 2014, the case had been transferred to the Honorable William S. Pocan, who, granted Attorney Bonneson's motion to withdraw. The court did not address Mr. Garcia's request to proceed pro se. (84: 2-16).

Attorney Douglas Bihler was appointed as Mr. Garcia's sixth attorney, and on April 21, 2015 the court held a hearing on the motions to suppress the lineup identification filed by Attorneys Harris and Bonneson. (86). The defense argued (a) that Mr. Garcia had the right to representation when he requested it at the lineup, and (b) that the lineup was unduly suggestive. (86: 81-91). The court denied the motion. (86: 104; App. 186).

The court then addressed Mr. Garcia's motion to proceed *pro se*. Although Mr. Garcia had filed the motion, the court addressed Attorney Bihler:

THE COURT: All right. Well, let's talk about that latest motion. And this is a motion to proceed pro se. And with you, Mr. Bihler, apparently, serving as standby counsel. And is this, indeed, what your client is seeking today?

MR. BIHLER: Yes.

(87: 7; App. 192). But Attorney Bihler was wrong. That was not what Mr. Garcia wanted. In his written motion, Mr. Garcia asked for an order directing Attorney Bihler "to withdraw his representation of Mr. Garcia and relieving Atty. Bihler of further

duties in the Above-captioned criminal action and granting Garcia's right to proceed pro se." (35: 1). Mr. Garcia did not request that Mr. Bihler remain as stand-by counsel or in any capacity.

The court then engaged Mr. Garcia in a colloquy to determine whether he was competent to represent himself. (87: 9-14; App. 194-199). The court asked him 24 questions about, among other things, his understanding of his right to counsel, his education, his language proficiency, his understanding of the charges against him, and his understanding of the potential benefits of counsel and drawbacks of self-representation. Mr. Garcia gave succinct, appropriate answers to all of these questions. (87: 9-14; App. 194-199).

During the colloquy, the court ascertained that Mr. Garcia understood that if he proceeded pro se there would be "no one in the courtroom" whose responsibility it was to look after Mr. Garcia and protect his legal rights. (87: 13; App. 198). But the court continued to operate under the incorrect assumption that Mr. Garcia was asking that Attorney Bihler be appointed as stand-by counsel. (87: 13-14; App. 198-199).

THE COURT: Well, and, of course, part of Mr. Garcia's request is to have Mr. Bihler serve as standby counsel. And anyone who is a regular in this courtroom knows that I certainly have no problem with cutting people off if they are acting inappropriately or arguing beyond what the law calls for. And this case would be no exception.

MS. KRONFORST: Right.

THE COURT: And, if necessary, I would very quickly reinstate Mr. Bihler if need be here. So, that would be my plan.

(87: 13-14; App. 198-199)(emphasis added).

Although the court advised Mr. Garcia that the court believed he was making a mistake, the court ultimately declared:

But I am inclined, if this is, indeed, what you want, would be to allow you to represent yourself, and I would appoint Mr. Bihler from this point on on behalf of the County at forty dollars (\$40.00) an hour as standby counsel in this case.

(87: 18; App. 202). The court then finally asked, "Is that, indeed, what you want?" (87: 18; App. 202). Mr. Garcia responded:

THE DEFENDANT: Well, Your Honor, I have prepared a statement.

THE COURT: Well, I don't need your statement. It's a simple question. And this highlights what Ms. Kronforst indicated; and that is, you're going to follow the same rules that the attorneys follow in my courtroom.

And when I ask you questions that involves a yes or no answer, that's what I expect. I have indicated to you that under these circumstances, I am inclined to grant your request, because I don't think under the law, I have any choice

under this set of facts. But I don't think it's a wise decision. But if it's what you want, I will do this.

So, do you want me to allow you to proceed pro se as indicated, yes or no?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: All right. Well. The defendant appears to have knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to counsel based on the record before this Court. It appears that the defendant is making a deliberate choice.

He is aware of the difficulties and disadvantages of proceeding without a lawyer. And he is aware of the seriousness of the charges and what could happen to him if convicted. I think actually I may have misspoke on the penalty. It's actually forty (40) years. And it's twenty-five (25) in and fifteen (15) out and a maximum fine of one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000.00). Do you understand that, Mr. Garcia?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: All right. And does that change your decision in any way?

THE DEFENDANT: There are several things that you are incorrect about.

THE COURT: Yes or no? Does that change your decision in. any way?

THE DEFENDANT: Well, it changes my decision with regards to Attorney Bihler being the

standby counsel. I never requested him to be my standby counsel.

THE COURT: Well, he's the one (1) you are going to get. Do you want to represent yourself with Mr. Bihler as standby counsel, or do you want Mr. Bihler to continue as counsel for you? Those are your two (2) choices. Pick one (1).

THE DEFENDANT: If I understand, correctly, Your Honor –

THE COURT: Stop. Your choices are to represent yourself, or you can have Mr. Bihler represent you. If you decide to represent yourself, then Mr. Bihler will serve as your standby –

THE DEFENDANT: You are not allowing me to speak, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You don't get to. Well, this has convinced me right here that there is something going on with Mr. Garcia. Under these circumstances, I can't believe that because this would make a mockery out of the system.

He won't answer the Court's questions. I don't know how we could proceed with him as counsel.

So, I think that now, Mr. Garcia, himself, has made a sort of record that would, perhaps, require me to deny his request.

(87: 16-20; App.200-204).

The judge added the following justification for his decision:

Quite frankly, and I will let the record reflect, the record would otherwise not have any way of knowing this, but Mr. Garcia has, as the record will indicate, he's been argumentative with the Court.

He refuses to answer the Court's direct questions. He says he wants to make a speech to the point where, of course, the record would not be clear, the deputy actually got up from his chair. He was standing next to him.

Because, of course, the deputy knows that this is the sort of situation which might require me to removing (sic) Mr. Garcia from the courtroom.

During the trial, all parties must show respect to the Judge and to the jury so that we can proceed.

Mr. Garcia has not been able to do that even at this simple motion hearing.

(87: 22-23; App. 206-207).

#### The Trial:

Attorney Bihler represented Mr. Garcia at trial. The State presented evidence D.L.'s identification of Mr. Garcia from the lineup and in court and B.C.'s uncertain identification from the lineup. The State also presented testimony that police spoke to three people who knew Mr. Garcia and told them that Mr. Garcia was a suspect in the bank robbery. Police displayed a still photograph taken from the surveillance video to the three witnesses. (91: 28-29; 92: 35-36). Two of the witnesses

said that they were certain that the photo depicted Mr. Garcia. (91: 24, 28-29). The prosecutor conceded in closing that the photo was "not going to win picture of the year for clarity." (93: 11).

The jury heard that the release of the surveillance video to the public also resulted in callers who identified various other possible suspects. (89: 35, 36). Some of the callers indicated that they were 100 percent certain that the robber in the video was a Mark Johnson. (89: 36-37). Mr. Johnson was able to prove that he was not in Wisconsin at the time of the robbery. (89: 37).

Following the three-day trial, Mr. Garcia was found guilty. (93: 78-81). The court sentenced him to a 25-year prison term with fifteen years of initial confinement. (57).

At sentencing, Mr. Garcia maintained his innocence. (94: 27).

## Appellate proceedings:

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