RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 03-14-2019

IN SUPREME COURT PLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2016AP1276-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NELSON GARCIA, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION IN THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM S. POCAN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KATHERINE D. LLOYD Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041801

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

It's a simple question. And this highlights what [the State] indicated; and that is, you're going to follow the same rules that the attorneys follow in my courtroom.

And when I ask you questions that involves a yes or no answer, that's what I expect.

I have indicated to you that under these circumstances, I am inclined to grant your request, because I don't think under the law, I have any choice under this set of facts.

But I don't think it's a wise decision.

But if it's what you want, I will do this.

So, do you want me to allow you to proceed pro se as indicated, yes or no?

[Garcia]: Yes.

The court: All right. Well. The defendant appears

to have knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to counsel based on the

record before this Court.

It appears that the defendant is making

a deliberate choice.

He is aware of the difficulties and disadvantages of proceeding without a

lawyer.

And he is aware of the seriousness of the charges and what could happen to

him if convicted.

(R. 87:18–19.)

At this point, it seems the court was prepared to conclude that Garcia had validly waived his right to counsel.

But the court then realized it had misstated the penalty Garcia faced. (R. 87:19.) The court clarified that Garcia faced a steeper penalty that the court had previously told him. (R. 87:11, 19.) So the court asked whether knowing the correct penalty changed Garcia's decision "in any way." (R. 87:19-20.) The court and Garcia then had the following exchange in which Garcia told the court that he did not want Bihler as standby counsel:

[Garcia]: There are several things that you are

incorrect about.

The court: Yes or no? Does that change your

decision in any way?

[Garcia]: Well, it changes my decision with regards to Attorney Bihler being the standby counsel.

I never requested him to be my standby counsel.

The court: Well, he's the one (1) you are going to get.

Do you want to represent yourself with Mr. Bihler as standby counsel, or do you want Mr. Bihler to continue as counsel for you? Those are your two (2) choices. Pick one (1).

[Garcia]: If I understand, correctly, Your Honor --

The court: Stop. Your choices are to represent yourself, or you can have Mr. Bihler represent you.

If you decide to represent yourself, then Mr. Bihler will serve as your standby --

[Garcia]: You are not allowing me to speak, Your Honor.

The court: You don't get to. Well, this has convinced me right here that there is something going on with Mr. Garcia.

Under these circumstances, I can't believe that because this would make a mockery of the system.

He won't answer the Court's questions.

I don't' know how we could proceed with him as counsel.

So, I think that now, Mr. Garcia, himself, has made a sort of record that would, perhaps, require me to deny his request.

(R. 87:20–21.) At this, the court reversed course and concluded that Garcia had forfeited his right to represent himself.

The court made clear that its decision was based on both Garcia's argumentative behavior in court that day and on his long history of failing to cooperate:

The court: [T]he problem, of course, is, I have to conduct the trial.

Mr. Garcia has now had six (6) attorneys.

And at this point, we do need to proceed.

Quite frankly, and I will let the record reflect, the record would otherwise not have any way of knowing this, but Mr. Garcia has, as the record will indicate, he's been argumentative with the Court.

He refuses to answer the Court's direct questions.

He says he wants to make a speech to the point where, of course, the record would not be clear, the deputy actually got up from his chair. He was standing next to him.

Because, of course, the deputy knows that this is the sort of situation which might require me to remov[e] Mr. Garcia from the courtroom.

During the trial, all parties must show respect to the Judge and to the jury so that we can proceed.

Mr. Garcia has not been able to do that even at this simple motion hearing.

(R. 87:22–23.) Thus, the court concluded that Garcia had forfeited his right to self-representation and denied his motion. (R. 87:23.)

Garcia filed a pro se motion asking the court to reconsider. (R. 45.) He said his "primary" reason for seeking to represent himself was because Bihler had not moved the court "regarding the unlawful prosecution brought" against him, which he argued violated the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments. (R. 45:5.) Garcia emphasized that he did not want Bihler to act as standby counsel. (R. 45:4.)

On the first day of trial, Bihler presented Garcia's motion to the court. (R. 97.) But the court again explained that while it had been inclined to grant Garcia's motion earlier, "when asked simple questions, he couldn't respond with a yes or no, and he made it impossible, we do have to proceed with the trial, so as a practical matter, we couldn't function." (R. 97:3.) Further, the court said that "[t]he second problem was the delay." (R. 97:3.) When Garcia learned that the court would appoint Bihler as standby counsel, Garcia "didn't like that" and his response was "another attempt at delay." (R. 97:3-4.) Pointing out that the State filed the complaint in 2012, that the trial was just beginning in July 2015, and that Garcia had now had six attorneys, the court said, "Enough is enough" and denied Garcia's motion for reconsideration. (R. 97:4)

Before this Court, Garcia complains that the circuit court's denial of his motion to represent himself violated his Sixth Amendment right to proceed pro se.²⁰ Garcia criticizes

²⁰ Garcia's Br. 43-58.

the court of appeals' decision for its reliance on Cummings, 199 Wis. 2d 721, as opposed to Faretta or Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337 (1970). According to Garcia, there are different standards in how the state and federal courts assess a defendant's trial behavior to determine whether he forfeited his right to proceed pro se. 22 Garcia seems to argue that a circuit court may conclude that a defendant forfeited his right to self-representation only when it applies the language expressly found in Faretta or Allen. 3 Garcia also argues that the circuit court denied his right to self-representation based upon only its speculation that he "may frustrate orderliness or efficiency" of the proceedings, as opposed to Garcia's actual disruptive and dilatory conduct. 4 But Garcia's arguments miss the mark for at least two reasons.

First, there is no distinction between the federal and State standards as it relates to a defendant's forfeiture of his constitutional right to self-representation.

In Faretta, the Supreme Court affirmed that a defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to represent himself at trial. Faretta, 422 U.S. at 832–34. But, as Garcia recognizes, the Faretta Court acknowledged that there are limits on a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to act as his own attorney, and that a "trial judge may terminate self-representation by a defendant who deliberately engages in serious and obstructionist misconduct." Id. at 834 n.46. In support, the Court cited Allen, 397 U.S. 337.

²¹ Garcia's Br. 46-48, 52-58.

²² Garcia's Br. 46-48, 52-58.

²³ Garcia's Br. 46-47.

²⁴ Garcia's Br. 48.

In *Allen*, the Court held that an accused could lose his constitutional right to be present at trial through his "noisy, disorderly, and disruptive" conduct that made it "exceedingly difficult or wholly impossible to carry on the trial." *Allen*, 397 U.S. at 338. Specifically, it held that a defendant can lose his right to be present "if, after he has been warned by the judge that he will be removed if he continues his disruptive behavior, he nevertheless insists on conducting himself in a manner so disorderly, disruptive, and disrespectful of the court that his trial cannot be carried on with him in the courtroom." *Id.* at 343.

More recently, the Supreme Court reiterated that "the right to self-representation is not absolute." *Martinez v. Court of Appeal of Cal., Fourth Appellate Dist.*, 528 U.S. 152, 161 (2000). Although *Martinez* concerned the scope of a defendant's appellate rights, the Court said that, "[e]ven at the *trial* level . . . the government's interest in ensuring the integrity and efficiency of the trial at times outweighs the defendant's interest in acting as his own lawyer." *Id.* at 162 (emphasis added).

Wisconsin courts apply the same standard. In *Cummings*, for example, the Court held that the circuit court did not deny the defendant his Sixth Amendment rights by "requiring him to proceed pro se, after his third courtappointed counsel had withdrawn, even though he had not verbally waived his right to counsel." *Cummings*, 199 Wis. 2d at 751–52. After acknowledging that a defendant must normally knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive the right to counsel in such circumstances, the Court noted that there are times that "permit a court to find that the defendant's voluntary and deliberate choice to proceed pro se has occurred by operation of law." *Id.* at 752. The Court found that "a circuit court must have the ability to find that a defendant has forfeited his right to counsel." *Id.* at 756–59.

Citing *Allen*, the Court said that "the Sixth Amendment does not bestow upon a defendant absolute rights and that a defendant can forfeit Sixth Amendment rights through his or her own disruptive and defiant behavior." *Id.* at 756–57.

So too in *Woods*, 144 Wis. 2d at 714, which the *Cummings* court relied on. In *Woods*, the court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's requiring Woods to represent himself after he refused the assistance of his fifth-appointed counsel. *Woods*, 144 Wis. 2d at 714. The court rejected Woods's argument that the court should have colloquized him, saying that it would have put the "trial court in an impossible situation" because Woods conceded that he would not have waived his right to counsel. *Id*. The court said that Woods's case was about more than whether the trial court made an adequate record of Woods's waiver; the "case must also address considerations of the orderly and efficient administration of justice." *Id*. at 715.

Despite Garcia's argument to the contrary, Faretta, Allen, Cummings and Woods set the same standard to evaluate whether a defendant's behavior is so egregious that it operated as a matter of law to forfeit his right to self-representation. There is no meaningful difference between whether the conduct is characterized as "serious and obstructionist misconduct"; "so disorderly, disruptive, and disrespectful of the court that his trial cannot be carried on with him in the courtroom"; or "disruptive and defiant." And Garcia points to none.

Thus, no matter which language this Court employs, a competent defendant's Sixth Amendment right to self-

Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 834 n.46 (1975);
 Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 343 (1970);
 State v. Cummings, 199
 Wis. 2d 721, 757, 546 N.W.2d 406 (Ct. App. 1996), respectively.

representation is bounded by his own conduct. See Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834 n.46; Allen, 397 U.S. at 339-41, 345-47.26

Second, Garcia incorrectly asserts that the trial court "rescind[ed] the right to self-representation at the first sign of frustration" and was "very quick to revoke" Garcia's right.²⁷ Garcia faults the court for its "displease[ure]" with him when he declined to directly answer the court's question on how he would like to proceed to trial.²⁸ But in determining whether Garcia forfeited his right to counsel, this Court may not examine the record in a vacuum.

Garcia forfeited his right to represent himself because he was disruptive, manipulative and obstructive over the course of three years. When Garcia requested to represent himself, Garcia was represented by his sixth attorney and the proceedings were before the third judge. Garcia had repeatedly denied that he had wanted to represent himself but just weeks before trial, he told the court that he had changed his mind. But he also specified that he did not want Bihler involved in his case. (R. 30; 45.) And when it came time for the court to instruct Garcia that his choices were to proceed pro se with Bihler as standby counsel—as Garcia

²⁶ See also United States v. Banks, 828 F.3d 609, 616 (7th Cir. 2016) (recognizing that a defendant's obstructionist behavior can rescind his waiver of rights); Imani v. Pollard, 826 F.3d 939, 946–47 (7th Cir. 2016) (acknowledging that a court may deny a motion for self-representation based on a defendant's delay in the assertion of the right or obstructionist behavior); United States v. Brock, 159 F.3d 1077, 1079 (7th Cir. 1998) (stating a judge may terminate a defendant's right to self-representation based on his conduct).

²⁷ Garcia's Br. 48, 52.

²⁸ Garcia's Br. 52–53.

admits is the court's prerogative²⁹—or to have Bihler represent him—Garcia refused to directly answer the court's questions. (R. 87:20.) Instead, he continued on his argumentative and obstreperous path.

Further, the court said that it was "convinced" that "something [was] going on with Mr. Garcia" such that the court did not know how to proceed with him representing himself. (R. 87:21.) The court noted that Garcia's behavior had caused the court's deputy concern that he would have to remove Garcia from the courtroom. (R. 87:22–23.)

Notably, after the court denied Garcia's motion, Garcia moved for reconsideration, claiming that if he had been allowed to continue his discussion with the court at the previous hearing, he would have explained that he did not agree to have Bihler act as standby counsel and that he would have objected to the court's trial schedule, arguing that if he had been allowed to proceed pro se, the July 2015 trial date would have been too soon for him to prepare. (R. 45:4.)

At the hearing on his motion for reconsideration, Bihler said that Garcia not only wanted to represent himself, but he sought an adjournment of the trial to do so. (R. 97:3.) The court again denied the motion, pointing to how Garcia had made it "impossible" to conduct the trial because he would not answer simple questions. (R. 97:3.) Moreover, the court said that Garcia's effort was just "another attempt at delay[ing]" the trial. (R. 97:3-4.)

Circumstances that trigger forfeiture of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel include manipulative and disruptive behavior, withdrawal of multiple attorneys based on the defendant's conduct, and a defendant's choices that

²⁹ Garcia's Br. 52. See Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834 n.46.

repeatedly result in delay. *Suriano*, 374 Wis. 2d 683, ¶ 24. Garcia's behavior was a textbook example of all of these circumstances. As the State pointed out at a hearing not long before trial, "Mr. Garcia seems to have [an] issue with everybody and at a certain point the indication is that it is Mr. Garcia, it is not every single attorney that he is appointed." (R. 85:1–20.)

Garcia argues that his behavior was not *that* bad. Although Garcia's behavior at the final pretrial alone may not have been enough to warrant the trial court's conclusion that he forfeited his right to self-representation, the record as a whole establishes that Garcia acted with intent—since at least March 2012, when his first counsel moved to withdraw—to delay and disrupt the proceedings. His conduct created a delay of over three years from charging to trial. Garcia's long history of misconduct, not just his misconduct that day, led the court to conclude that he could not represent himself and that he forfeited his Sixth Amendment right to act pro se.

Finally, that the circuit court here did not explicitly warn Garcia before holding that he forfeited his right, see Suriano, 374 Wis. 2d. 683, ¶ 1, does not change the result in this case. Garcia cannot have been unaware of the disruptive nature of his behavior. Over the three years that he spent before the court on this case, the court told him time and again that his behavior was obstructive. (R. 84:9–17; 85:14–15.) The court even noted that Garcia was learning that by engaging in his obstreperous conduct "this matter can really be drawn out forever." (R. 84:11.) Further, even after the court told Garcia he had only a choice between standby counsel and representation, Garcia refused the choice and requested an adjournment of the trial. (R. 45; 97:3.) With all of that, Garcia created a no-win situation for the trial court. Thus, as in Woods, requiring the court to give Garcia

warnings here would be holding it to "unattainable requirements" when Garcia effectively conceded he would not have heeded them. *See Woods*, 144 Wis. 2d at 714. The lowed courts therefore properly concluded that Garcia had forfeited his right to self-representation.

CONCLUSION

For these reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the decision of the court of appeals.